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1. Summary 
 The project 
1.1 This report presents the results of an archaeological desk-based assessment, 

which was conducted in advance of a proposed development at York Square 
car park, Richmond, North Yorkshire.  The assessment comprised a search of 
pertinent documentary and cartographic records, and a field visit. 

 
1.2 The works were commissioned by Richmondshire District Council, and 

conducted by Archaeological Services Durham University in accordance with 
a specification provided by North Yorkshire County Council. 

 
 Results 
1.3 Due to the configuration of the adjacent street plan on The Green there is the 

potential for early medieval deposits to survive within the site. 
 
1.4 Industrial activity in the early post-medieval period on Tenter Bank, adjacent 

to the site, included large wooden frames used to dry cloth. There is potential 
for deposits relating to these activities to survive within the site. 

 
1.5 Walled gardens were constructed within the site in the 18th century. It is 

unlikely that any remains of the gardens survive due to later building work.  
 
1.6 A stable block occupied the northern end of the site in the later 18th century. 

Archaeological deposits relating to the stable block and its later conversion 
into cottages have the potential to survive. 

 
 Recommendations 
1.7 The desk-based assessment is part of a phased programme of archaeological 

works to evaluate the site. A series of trial trenches are to be excavated within 
the site. This should aim to evaluate the nature and condition of deposits 
associated with the 18th century gardens and stables, as well as establishing if 
any evidence of earlier activity survives within the proposed development 
area. This will also aim to evaluate the degree to which archaeological 
deposits have been impacted upon by modern disturbance. 
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2.   Project background 
 Location (Figure 1) 
2.1 The site is located at York Square car park, Richmond, North Yorkshire 

(NGR: NZ 16833 00702).  The site itself covers an area of 0.3 hectares. The 
area slopes gently upwards from south to north from approximately 104m 
AOD to 108m AOD. Approximately two-thirds of the area is given over to car 
parking on block paving while the remaining third is a grass bank (Figure 2). 
 
Development proposal 

2.2 A preliminary proposal for residential development is being considered for the 
site.  

 
 Objective 
2.3 This site falls within the Archaeologically Sensitive Area of Richmond, as 

defined in the Richmondshire Local Plan (Policy 48) and has potential for the 
survival of archaeological remains, which may contribute towards an 
understanding of the origins and development of settlement at Richmond. This 
report has been commissioned to assess the archaeological impact of 
development proposals prior to the submission of planning applications. 

 
 Specification summary 
2.4 The works have been undertaken in accordance with a specification provided 

by North Yorkshire County Council Archaeology Section 05/79/1092 
(Appendix 1) and are part of a phased programme of archaeological evaluation 
on the site.   

 
 Dates 
2.5 The field visit took place on 28th July 2005. This report was prepared between 

19th July and 1st September 2005.    
 
 Personnel 
2.6 Research was conducted and this report prepared by Jason Mole, with 

illustrations by Janine Fisher. The Project Manager was Daniel Still. 
 
 OASIS 
2.7 Archaeological Services Durham University is registered with the Online 

AccesS to the Index of archaeological investigations project (OASIS).  The 
OASIS ID number for this project is archaeol3-9545. 

 
 Acknowledgements 
2.8 Archaeological Services is grateful for the assistance of North Yorkshire 

County Record Office in facilitating this scheme of works.   
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3.   Landuse, topography and geology 
 Landuse 
3.1 At the time of the desk-based survey, two thirds of the site was in use as a car 

park, while the northern most part contained a landscaped grass bank. 
 
 Site situation 
3.2 The site is situated within the town of Richmond close to the River Swale; it is 

bounded to the west and north by the Temple Grounds historic gardens, to the 
east by the Cravengate road and an area known as The Green, and to the south 
by a public footpath and entrance to the Temple Grounds. The site has a mean 
elevation of c.106m OD. 

  
 Geology  
3.3 The town of Richmond is largely built on carboniferous limestone with 

occasional, fairly large, outcrops of millstone grit. This is overlain by glacial 
sands and clays. 

 
 
4. Historical and archaeological development 
4.1 The history of Richmond has been described by Clarkson (1821), Fieldhouse 

and Jenning (1979) and more recently by Hatcher (2000). A summary is 
provided by Tyler (1980). 

 
 The prehistoric period (up to AD 70) 
4.2 While there are prehistoric sites in the surrounding area, none are known from 

Richmond itself. 
 
 The Roman period (AD 70 to 5th Century AD) 
4.3 A hoard of Roman coins and a silver spoon dating from AD 370-400 were 

found on Castle Bank in 1722, and another late 4th century coin was found in 
the same area in the 1950’s (Tyler 1980). These appear to have been an 
isolated deposit since there is no other evidence for Roman occupation in the 
area; however, Roman lead mining activity is known from Swaledale (Morris 
2001). 

 
 The medieval period (5th century AD to AD 1540) 
4.4 The town is not mentioned in the Doomsday Book. The name Richmond is 

Norman French meaning ‘strong mound’ and relates to the construction of the 
castle. However it is thought that either one of two names mentioned in the 
Doomsday Book, Hindrelag or Neutone, relate to the settlement. No 
archaeological evidence for Anglo-Saxon occupation within Richmond has 
been discovered so far (Tyler 1980). 

 
4.5 The Castle was founded by Alan Rufus in c.1071. A market town developed 

around this castle as people were drawn to the trading potential of the new 
building. The original market place in Richmond has not been identified; 
possible locations have been suggested in two locations around the castle’s 
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palisades Frenchgate and Newbiggin. Due to its unusual street layout and its 
proximity to a river crossing, the potential also exists for a market, or some 
form of medieval activity, on the land at the Green immediately to the east of 
the area of study. The market was later brought within the town walls. This 
market, positioned north of the castles main entrance in the Outer Bailey, 
rapidly rose in importance to become the dominant centre for the region. Its 
importance, and numerous incursions by the Scots into North Yorkshire, 
resulted in the need to wall the town. The crown gave permission for the 
building of a defensive wall and the first murage grants were given in 1312, 
with others in 1332, 1338 and 1399 after damage by the Scots. It is recorded 
that houses were destroyed on the Earls Land in 1341 to make room for the 
wall and accompanying ditch. By the beginning of the 16th century, Leland 
records that the walls had become ruinous (Hatcher 2000). 

 
 The post-medieval period (AD 1541 to AD 1899) 
4.6 The importance of the market declined during the 15th century, due to the rise 

of local markets in surrounding towns. However the development of the textile 
industry during the 16th century regenerated the town. Richmond become a 
major centre for the production of woollen clothing, especially hand knitted 
stockings and sailors caps. The rise of the lead mining industry in Swaledale 
also benefited the town. This increase in prosperity is reflected in widespread 
rebuilding throughout the town at this time (Morris 2001). 

 
4.7 The York Square car park site was outside the town walls and may have 

originally been within the west field of Richmond’s open field system. 
Evidence for this may be identified in Kay Fields to the north of the site where 
ridge and furrow is present (Hepworth 1998) 

 
4.8 In the mid-14th century a local businessman called William de Hudswell built 

a corn mill on the bank of the river swale, to the south of the site, known as the 
Green Mill. This was a controversial move as the two corn mills already in the 
area were protected by ‘soke’, a medieval manorial custom preventing 
competition. Due to this the legality of the mill was challenged by a Bégard 
monk called Geoffrey. Despite this the Green Mill, which operated as both a 
corn mill and a fulling mill, continued in use up until 1765 when Thomas 
Yorke wished to stop commercial users passing through his landscaped 
gardens. Around the same time, Hudswell also built a peele tower on the high 
ground to the west of the site. Both of these structures can be identified on the 
insert plan of Richmond on Speeds 1610 map of Yorkshire (Figure 3, numbers 
16 and 17) (Hatcher 2000). 

 
4.9 The proposed development lay in an area known as Tenter Bank, a label 

present on both Harman’s 1724 (Figure 4) plan and Jackson’s 1773 (Figure 5) 
map of Richmond. This area was home to a series of large wooden frames, or 
tenters, used to dry cloth from the area’s fulling mills as well as cloth 
manufactured in the industrial suburb of Richmond, the Green. The Green lay 
directly to the east of the area of investigation and was known throughout the 
medieval and Elizabethan periods for its cloth manufacturing (Hatcher 2000, 
Hepworth 1998). 
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4.10 Clarkson (1821) discussed the sale of a newly built mansion in 1608 to Sir 
William Gascoigne of Sedbury for use as his town residence. The Mansion 
named is not evident on Speeds plan of 1610 (Figure 3) but would have 
occupied the land directly south of the proposed development area close to the 
northern bank of the River Swale. The present York Street car park would 
have been within the mansions gardens the configuration of which is not 
known for this period (Hepworth 2001)  
  

4.11 This mansion was sold in 1631 to Mauger Norton of St Nicholas, Richmond 
who in 1632 added to the estate by purchasing land from Sir Timothy Hutton 
(Hepworth 1998). 

 
4.12  The estate came into the possession of a local whig family, the Yorkes, in 

1658 when Mauger Norton’s daughter Mary married Sir John Yorke. As part 
of the marriage settlement the mansion house and 40 acres of land in Bargate 
Green, some of which belonged to the local parish church as one of its 
medieval obits, were set aside for the couple. The land contained both the, still 
operational, Green Mill and the decayed remains of the Hudswell peele tower. 
Soon after this date John Yorke began rebuilding the house on the Green This 
become known as Yorke House (Hatcher 2000). The estate remained in the 
possession of the Yorke family until 1824 when the mansion house was sold 
and demolished. (Hepworth 2001). 

 
4.13 Celia Fiennes visited Richmond on her travels in 1698 where she was 

complimentary of Yorke House and gardens proclaiming it one of two good 
houses in the area; the other being Hill House, belonging to a Mr Darcey, 
brother to the Earl of Holderness. Fiennes also passes comment on the gardens 
describing them as good and walled in stone. These walled gardens can be 
identified on Harman’s 1724 plan of Richmond (Figure 4); which shows a 
series of formal gardens including what may be fruit beds on the location of 
the current York Square car park (Morris 1982).  
 

4.14 The gardens and grounds associated with the mansion house changed quite 
dramatically over the next hundred years. The original formal gardens as 
shown on Harman’s plan of 1724 (Figure 4) were thought to have been laid 
out by Dame Mary after John Yorke took ill and died after only five years of 
marriage. These gardens were set out in a geometric form greatly influenced 
by French style, and were considered very fashionable at this time. The estate 
had symmetrically designed lawns to the east and west of the mansion house; 
an orchard along the river bank; a series of hanging gardens and tree planted 
walkways around the perimeter of the gardens and Tenter Bank, passing 
Hudswell Tower (Hepworth 2001). During the 1730’s John Yorke, grandson 
of the afore mentioned John Yorke, and his wife Anne appear to have spent 
considerable time altering the gardens at York House; changing them into a 
ferme ornée. This is evident from a series of letters by both John and Anne, 
held in the Yorke family archive, to their steward Francis Lodge. The letters 
indicate the ownership of livestock such as chickens, cows and horses; crops 
of apple, oats and asparagus; as well as the agricultural practices of spreading 
dung and lime (Hepworth 1998). During this time the elaborately geometric 
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parterres were replaced with a lawn complete with viewing area, fruit beds 
and a glass-house (Hatcher 2000). 

 
4.15 In 1746 a belvedere was built on the site of the Hudswell peele tower to 
 celebrate the Hanoverian victory at Culloden. The tower was originally named 
 Cumberland Temple, and later just the temple. This temple was the source of 
 the landscape’s name of The Temple Grounds; its name has however changed 
 in more recent years to Culloden Tower. The tower has been described by 
 Pevsner (1966) as, “... the most amazing and nationally most interesting 
 monument of the early gothic revival in the riding ...” (p.46); it is thought to 
 have been designed by the architect Daniel Garret of County Durham, who 
 built a similar structure at Aske Hall in County Durham for a relative of the 
 Yorkes, Sir Conyers D’Arcy (Hepworth 2001). The folly was built with a 
 plain cube base with two octagonal storeys above and can be identified on 
 Jackson’s 1773 map of Richmond (Figure 5). On the same map alterations 
 made to the gardens can be identified such as a tree lined walkway stretching 
 from the tower and down to the River Swale, presenting a more landscape 
 picturesque design.  
 
4.16 John Yorke was found dead in his garden on the 14th July 1757 and the estate 
 passed to his brother Thomas (Clarkson 1821). As previously stated Thomas 
 demolished the Green Mill in 1765 thereby removing the requirement for 
 public access to the land. This along with the building of Cravengate, part of 
 the Richmond to Lancaster Turnpike road, along the eastern edge of the estate 
 led to a new phase of consolidation, building and landscaping. Thomas is 
 credited with building another folly on the estate the Gothic Menagerie with 
 walled garden known as Temple Lodge; this became the main house for the 
 land after the demolition of the mansion house in 1824. The menagerie lay in 
 the northern corner of the estate and was completed in 1769, one year after 
 Thomas’s death. By 1772 the formal gardens were all demolished and a new 
 stable block, designed by John Carr of York and covering the area of the 
 current York Street car park, had been built. The stable blocks are evident on 
 Jackson’s 1773 map of Richmond (Figure 5) and were bordered to the north 
 and east by a series of gardens or paddocks surrounded by an enclosing wall. 
 The removal of the formal gardens and re-sculpting of the estates must been a 
 considerable undertaking the precise nature of which is not known. By 1792 
 the estate had been laid out incorporating a fully picturesque landscape 
 (Hepworth 2001). 
  
4.17 In 1813 John York died starting a gradual decline for the estate which was 
 given out to tenants prior to being sold in separate parts in 1824. The stable 
 block and accompanying walled garden was separated from the rest of the 
 estate and converted into cottages called Yorke Square and the mansion house 
 was demolished. The rest of the estate was purchased in 1844 by the 
 Smurthwaite family.  
 
 The modern period (AD 1900 to present) 
4.18 Changes in the proposed area of development can be identified in the 

cartographic evidence. Maps prior to 1895 show the stable blocks with no 
buildings directly to the south (Figures 5, 6, and 7); this changes in the 
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ordnance survey map of 1895 (Figure 8) were a number of buildings are 
identified directly south of York Square, within the proposed development 
area. These buildings are also evident on the ordnance survey map of 1913 
(Figure 9); also identifiable on this map are the subdivisions for the cottages 
within the York Square buildings. The buildings, possibly outhouses 
associated with the York Square cottages, are no longer evident on the 1928 
and 1930 ordnance survey maps (Figures 10 and 11), but the cottages still 
remain. 

 
4.19 In 1958 the Yorke Square cottages were demolished and in their place the 

York Square car park was built. In 1994 The Temple Grounds were added to 
English Heritage’s Register of Parks and Gardens of special historic interest. 

 
4.20 Two aerial photographs were consulted in the production of this report but no 

significant features were identified (see paragraph 10.5 below). 
 

Previous archaeological works 
4.21 While numerous excavations and evaluations have taken place in and around 
 the town of Richmond itself such as Finkle Street (Young 1996; Finney 
 1989), Victoria Road (Abramson 1994), Rosemary Lane  (Turnbull 1996), The 
 Friary Gardens (Diamond and Pearson 2000) and Richmond Castle Barbican 
 (Annis forthcoming), no previous archaeological work has taken place at the 
 York Square car park site. 
 
 The buildings 
4.22 Richmond is renowned for its Georgian architecture and contains a large 

number of listed buildings. A number of these are in the area of the Temple 
Grounds and on land adjacent to York Square car park. 

 
4.23 To the North of the site is Garden Cottage (NZ 1600 NE 5/64), Cravengate 

which has been listed as a grade II structure for the two 18th Century stone 
archways incorporated within. One containing keystones and moulded 
columns; the other moulded capitals and rusticated keystones. They are also 
the remains of two stone pyramids from 18th century gate piers. The 18th or 
early 19th century high rubble wall associated with this building is also listed 
(NZ 1600 NE 5/64A). 

 
4.24 Also to the north of the site is Temple Lodge (NZ 1600 NE 5/61) a grade II 

gothic building in stone complete with turrets and crenulations (see paragraph 
4.16 above). 

 
4.25 Grade II* listed building, the Temple, otherwise known as Culloden Tower 

(NZ 1600 NE 5/62) occupies a hilltop to the west of the site (see paragraph 
4.15 above).  

 
4.26 All of the building within the area of The Green to the east of the site are grade 

II listed and comprise 18th or 19th century two storey buildings (NZ 1600 NE 
5/34, 106-121, 372, 374). It is however clear from cartographic evidence that 
houses were positioned here much before this time.  
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5. Site reconnaissance 
5.1 A field visit was conducted, to help ascertain the potential of the proposed 

development area to contain any archaeological resource. The visit noted site 
topography, earthworks and areas of modern overburden, modern services, 
boundaries, buildings and other upstanding remains. A pro forma recording 
sheet was utilised for this purpose. 

 
5.2 The site is completely enclosed by a bonded stone wall with the exception of 

the entrance to Cravengate on the eastern side. Approximately two thirds of 
the area of investigation is levelled and block paved. The remaining third is a 
steep grass bank planted with trees and bushes.  

 
5.3 The entrance to the site is unimpeded and no utility services either overhead or 

underground were evident. 
 
5.4 A potential hazard while working onsite would come from the road, 

Cravengate, to the east. Appropriate fencing and signage would be required 
during any excavations to promote health and safety for the general public. 

 
 
6. The potential archaeological resource 
6.1 There is no direct evidence for Roman activity within the study area, but the 

presence of activity in the surrounding vicinity and topographic evidence 
indicates that an as yet unidentified resource has the potential to exist. 

  
6.2 Due to the configuration of the adjacent street plan on The Green there is the 

potential for medieval deposits to survive within the site. 
 
6.3 Some evidence of industrial activities conducted on Tenter Bank may remain 

in the form of postholes for the large wooden frames used to dry cloth. 
 
6.4 A walled garden depicted in Harman’s 1724 plan of Richmond occupied the 

site. It is likely that later building works have impacted upon any deposits 
associated with the garden, 

 
6.5 There is the potential for deposits associated with the 18th century stable 

blocks to have survived within the site. 
 
 
7. Impact assessment 
 Visual impact 
7.1 The proposed development site lies directly to the east of the Temple Grounds, 

which are gardens of special historic interest, and to the west of a large 
number of listed buildings. Due to this any development will have a significant 
impact on its surroundings. 
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 Direct  impact 
7.2 The development of the study area has the potential to impact on any surviving 
 archaeological deposits. There is evidence of post-medieval industrial activity, 
 18th century formal gardens and an 18th century building on, or in close 
 proximity to, the site  
 
 
8. Recommendations 
8.1 The desk-based assessment is part of a phased programme of archaeological 

works to evaluate the site. A series of trial trenches are to be excavated within 
the site. This should aim to evaluate the nature and condition of deposits 
associated with the 18th century gardens and stables, as well as establishing if 
any evidence of earlier activity survives within the proposed development 
area. This will also aim to evaluate the degree to which archaeological 
deposits have been impacted upon by modern disturbance. 

 
 
9. Sources 
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Figure 10  Extract from the 2nd edition, 25 inches 

to a mile, Ordnance Survey map of 1928
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Appendix 1: Project specification 
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Appendix 2: Historic Environment Record 
Historic Environment Record: 
(SAM = Scheduled Ancient Monument) 
PRN: SAM: Description: Date: 

 15617 Richmond Castle 11th century 
 

Listed buildings: 
Listed building no. Descripton: Grade: 
NE 5/64 No.1 Cravengate Garden Cottage II 
NE 5/64A Wall to No.1 II 
NE 5/61 Temple Lodge II 
NE 5/62 Culloden Tower II* 
NE 5/34 No.1 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/106 No.1 to 7 The Green (south side) II 
NE 5/107 No.9 The Green (south side) II 
NE 5/108 No.15 and 17 The Green (south side) II 
NE 5/109 No.19 and 21 The Green (south side) II 
NE 5/110 No.30 The Green (south side) II 
NE 5/111 No.29 The Green (west side) II 
NE 5/112 No.35 The Green (west side) II 
NE 5/113 No.37 and 39 The Green (west side) II 
NE 5/114 No.26 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/115 No.24 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/116 No.18 and 20 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/117 No.14 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/118 No.10 and 12 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/119 No.8 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/120 No.4 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/121 No.2 The Green (north side) II 
NE 5/372 No.11 and 13 The Green (south side) II 
NE 5/374 No.22 The Green (north side) II 
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